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CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

Meeting Date: February 6, 2025 

From:        City Manager Jeremy Dennis 

Subject: Update Regarding the Creation of Potential Council Election Districts 

Community Goal/Result 
Community Building - Brisbane will honor the rich diversity of our city (residents, organizations, 
businesses) through community engagement and participation 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that the City Council: 

1. Receive an update regarding the creation of potential Council election districts
2. Provide direction to staff on the timeline and outreach.

Background 

Background on the California Voting Rights Act 

The California Voting Rights Act (“CVRA”) became law in 2003. It provides instructions for 

transitioning a jurisdiction from an at-large election system to a different system - typically a by-
district or by-division election system. Since its adoption over 200 cities, over 300 school districts, 
and over 100 other jurisdictions have made the change to by-district elections either in 
anticipation of, or following receipt of, a litigation threat. 

In San Mateo County alone, Belmont, Burlingame, Foster City, Half Moon Bay, Menlo Park, 
Pacifica, Redwood City, San Burno, San Mateo, South San Francisco, and Woodside already 
transitioned to by-district elections. 

No jurisdiction facing such a litigation threat has won so far, and the few jurisdictions that have 
fought such threats in court have spent millions on their defense and millions more in payouts to 
plaintiffs. 

Brisbane’s Situation 

The City Council was elected under an at-large election system, whereby Council Members are 
elected by voters of the entire City. On May 16, 2024 the Council adopted a Resolution of Intent 
to Change Election Systems. Moving to by-district elections would require a Council Member (and 
all candidates for that position) to reside within a designated district boundary, and each Council 
Member would be elected only by voters of the appropriate district. 
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While no formal litigation threat (“demand”) letter has been received, given the spread of such 
letters in the county and across the state it is likely one will be forthcoming. Acting before 
receiving such a letter will save the City up to $40,000 that state law says an attorney sending 
such a letter receives from the targeted jurisdiction. 

Additionally, the City has received correspondences regarding this issue; they are attached to 
this staff report (Attachment 2).  

This change has no impact on current Council Member terms or status. The only impact of the 
change is when a Council Member’s current term expires, as the new by-district system will be 
used for that election. 

Discussion 

Next Steps 

As required by Elections Code Section 10010, the City will need to hold at least two (2) public 
hearings prior to the release of draft maps of Council election districts. Council will then hold an 
additional two (2) or more public hearings to solicit public input regarding the content of the 
draft maps and the proposed sequence of elections. Then an additional public hearing will be 
held prior to the approval of an ordinance implementing a Council election district map.  

The first hearing will also include the public launch of the City’s public mapping tool and 
interactive map review website, provided by our districting consultant (National Demographics 
Corporation, or NDC). In addition, between now and the first public hearing, the City will prepare 
to conduct an outreach campaign to inform and educate the community about the upcoming 
process. 

The current schedule for this process is as follows: 

February 6 Council update and approval of timeline 
March 20 First Hearing 

Week of March 24 or 31 Community Forum 
April 17 Second Hearing 
May 4 Deadline for public to submit maps for 

consideration at the Third Hearing 
May 8 Deadline to post initial draft maps 

May 15 Third Hearing 
Late May/Early June Community Forum 

June 5 Fourth Hearing 
September 4 Hearing and Final Adoption 

Fiscal Impact 
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None 

Environmental Analysis 

No environmental review is required because the proposed action is not a project governed by 
the California Environmental Quality Act. 

Attachments 

1. May 16, 2024 City Council Action Minutes
2. Correspondences regarding district elections

___________________________________ 
 Jeremy Dennis, City Manager 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
May 16, 2024 
Page 3 

I. Approve a Resolution Adopting a Project, the Overlay of Monterey Street between Visitacion
Avenue and San Bruno Avenue, for fiscal year 2024-2025 funded by Senate Bill 1: the Road Repair
and Accountability Act of 2017

(The Fiscal Impact of this Item: The project recommended for this year is to utilize 2024-25 RMRA funds to complete 
a mill-and-overlay of Monterey Street between Visitacion Avenue and San Bruno Avenue, as identified in the City’s 
pavement management system. City will receive an estimated $124,200 to fund the cost of this work.) 

Councilmember Davis made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Lentz, to approve Consent Calendar Items E-G and I. 
The motion was carried unanimously by all present.  

Ayes: Councilmembers Cunningham, Davis, Lentz, Mackin, and Mayor O’Connell 
Noes: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 

H. Approve the Mothers of Brisbane’s CPR/First Aid Training as a Cosponsored Event

Councilmember Cunningham pulled Consent Calendar Item H for a brief discussion. She requested staff to widely 
publicize this important community event.  

After no public comment, Councilmember Mackin made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Cunningham, to 
approve Consent Calendar Items E-G and I. The motion was carried unanimously by all present.  

Ayes: Councilmembers Cunningham, Davis, Lentz, Mackin, and Mayor O’Connell 
Noes: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 

OLD BUSINESS 

J. Elections Issues Update

Interim City Manager Holstine reported that Councilmembers are being asked to consider the recommendations from 
the Charter City and Election Issues Subcommittee and provide directions to staff regarding the election issues of a 
directly elected mayor, council term limits, and term limits. 

After a brief presentation from Douglas Johnson from National Demographics Corporation and council questions, Roland 
Lebrun and Nancy Lacsamana commented on the election issues. 

After council discussion, the interim City Manager was directed to have signing authority up to $11,500 to work with the 
National Demographics Corporation for a demographic study. 

STAFF REPORTS 

K. City Manager’s Report on Upcoming Activities
i. San Mateo County Alert and Overview of City Communication Platforms
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